IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

ERNEST OROZCO,

Defendant-Appellant.

Case No. S249495

FILED

NOV 27 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b)

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, Case No. D067313 San Diego County Superior Court Case No. SCN335521

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENJAMIN KINGTON State Bar No. 264008 BOYCE & SCHAEFER 934 23rd Street San Diego, CA 92102-1914 (619) 232-3320 Email: bk@boyce-schaefer.com

Attorney for petitioner ERNEST OROZCO

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF T	THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA,	

Case No. S249495

Issue on Review

1. Section 496 makes buying or receiving "any property that has been stolen" a misdemeanor, if the property is worth less than \$950 and the defendant is not disqualified. Section 496d applies to receiving a certain type of stolen property, an automobile. Is a conviction under section 496d reducible to a misdemeanor, if the automobile was worth less than \$950 and the other requirements are met?

Summary of argument

As modified by Proposition 47, section 496, subdivision (a), applies to possession of "any property" and mandates that if the property is worth less than \$950, the offense is a misdemeanor. Section 496d applies to a possession of a specific type of property, automobiles. The Legislature that created section 496d in 1998 did so to track such crimes, not to change the punishment or definition of the crime. The crimes in section 496d and section 496 are identical in all respects, with the exception of the type of property possessed.

This Court has already held that "any property" includes automobiles, and noted that one of the electorate's explicit purposes in enacting Proposition 47 was to eliminate statutes that made theft a felony based on the type of property alone, including when that property is "cars." Furthermore, Proposition 47 expressly requires a "broad" and "liberal" construction to effectuate its purposes of saving money by treating nonviolent theft crimes as misdemeanors and focusing resources on more serious crimes. It would be illogical for the voters to make theft of low-value cars a misdemeanor, but leave the later possession of those same stolen cars as a felony.

The plain text of section 496, the electorate's intent in enacting Proposition 47, and this Court's precedents all counsel the same result: possession of a stolen automobile under section 496d is reducible to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 where that automobile is worth less than \$950.

Statement of the case and facts

On August 7, 2014, the police pulled Orozco over and a routine license plate check showed the car Orozco was driving had been reported stolen. Orozco was the vehicle's sole occupant, the car's ignition was damaged, and it was running without a key. The police report listed the car's value at \$301. (CT¹ 13, 44.) Orozco pleaded guilty to the substantive counts of taking and driving a vehicle in count 1 (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a)), and unlawfully buying, receiving, concealing, selling, or withholding a stolen vehicle in count 2 (§ 496d, subd. (a)). (CT 1–10, 59; 1 RT² 1–11.)

Voters enacted Proposition 47 on November 4, 2014. The new laws became effective the following day. (Cal. Const., art. 11, § 10, subd. (a).) On December 11, 2014, after pleading guilty but before sentencing, Orozco moved to have his convictions reduced to misdemeanors under the newly-enacted Proposition 47. (CT 33–44.) Orozco's motion included the fact that the car was worth \$301. (CT 36.) The sentencing court denied Orozco's motion and sentenced Orozco as a felon. (CT 61, 2 RT 17–18, 24.) Orozco appealed. (CT 48, 56.)

On January 21, 2016, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, affirmed the trial court's ruling as to both counts. (*People v. Orozco* (Jan 21, 2016, D067315 [nonpub. opn.]) This Court granted review (*People v. Orozco* [nonpub. opn.], review granted Aug. 10, 2016, S235603) and eventually transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal on March 21, 2018, for reconsideration in light of *People v. Page* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175

[&]quot;CT" denotes "Clerk's Transcript."

²"RT" denotes "Reporter's Transcript."

(Page.) Page held that a conviction under Vehicle Code section 10851 may be reduced under Proposition 47. (Id. at p. 1183.)

On May 24, 2018, the Court of Appeal issued a new published opinion. Following *Page*, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of Orozco's petition in count 1 without prejudice to Orozco's filing an amended petition making the necessary showing that Orozco's conviction in count 1 involved theft. (*People v. Orozco* (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 667, 673.) As to count 2, the Court of Appeal held that section 496d is not covered by Proposition 47's revisions to section 496. (*Id.* at p. 674.) The Court of Appeal noted that Proposition 47's new theft statute, section 490.2, refers to "any other provision of law defining grand theft." Section 496 contains no such broad language, and section 490.2 does not apply to stolen property offenses. (*Ibid.*)

On August 15, 2018, this Court granted review.

Argument

- I. Proposition 47 makes receiving stolen property offenses, including the statute of conviction here, misdemeanors where the value of the property is less than \$950.
 - A. Standard of review and applicable statutory construction law.

The scope of Proposition 47 is a question of law which is reviewed de novo. (*People v. Gonzales* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 44, 49.) In construing a voter initiative, the Court first looks to the plain meaning of the words in the statute, construing them in context and keeping in mind the statutory purpose. If the statute remains ambiguous, the Court may look to extrinsic sources, such as the initiative's election materials, to glean the electorate's intended purpose. The Court's "principal objective" is to give the initiative's provisions their intended effect. (*Id.* at pp. 49–50.)

B. Proposition 47 amended section 496 to make possession of "any property" that has been stolen a misdemeanor if that property was worth less than \$950.

Proposition 47 amended the general receiving stolen property statute, section 496, to make receiving stolen property a misdemeanor whenever the property at issue is worth less than \$950.

As amended by Proposition 47, Penal Code section 496, subdivision (a) now provides:

"Every person who buys or receives any property that has been stolen or that has been obtained in any manner constituting theft or extortion, knowing the property to be so stolen or obtained, or who conceals, sells, withholds, or aids in concealing, selling, or withholding any property from the owner, knowing the property to be so stolen or obtained, shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than one year, or imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170. However, if the value of the property does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950), the offense shall be a misdemeanor, punishable only by imprisonment in a county jail not exceeding one year, if such person has no prior convictions for an offense specified in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667 or for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 290."

(§ 496, subd. (a), emphasis added.)

"An automobile is personal property." (*Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) By its terms, section 496, subdivision (a), applies to possession of a

stolen automobile and the use of the term "any property" encompasses all types of property.

C. Section 496d is a type of Receiving Stolen Property.

Orozco was convicted in count 2 of violating section 496d, subdivision (a). Section 496d is a form of receiving stolen property. (See *People v. Russell* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1425 (*Russell*), disapproved on another point in *People v. Covarrubias* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 838, 874, fn. 14.)

Section 496d, subdivision (a) provides:

Every person who buys or receives any motor vehicle, as defined in Section 415 of the Vehicle Code, any trailer, as defined in Section 630 of the Vehicle Code, any special construction equipment, as defined in Section 565 of the Vehicle Code, or any vessel, as defined in Section 21 of the Harbors and Navigation Code, that has been stolen or that has been obtained in any manner constituting theft or extortion, knowing the property to be stolen or obtained, or who conceals, sells, withholds, or aids in concealing, selling, or withholding any motor vehicle, trailer, special construction equipment, or vessel from the owner, knowing the property to be so stolen or obtained, shall be punished by imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170 for 16 months or two or three years or a fine of not more than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), or both, or by imprisonment in a county jail not to exceed one year or a fine of not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both.

(§ 496d, subd. (a).)

In Russell, the Court of Appeal held section 496d requires the prosecution to prove the same elements as generic receiving stolen property: (1) the property was stolen, (2) the defendant knew the property was stolen, and (3) the defendant had possession of the stolen property. (Russell, supra, 144 Cal.App.4th at p. 1425; People v. King (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 472, 476 [elements of generic receiving stolen property].) The elements of sections 496d and 496 are identical; the only difference is the type of property stolen.

Section 496d was enacted by SB 2390 in 1998. According to the legislative analysis, the purpose of creating a separate possession-of-stolen-property crime specific to vehicles was to track statistics related to such crimes: The Bill would "create a new Penal Code Section for receiving stolen property, specific to vehicles, in order to better track this offense. This addition would not change criminal penalties or expand the definition of a crime." (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Assembly Bill No. 2390 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 23, 1998; see also, Assem. Floor Com. on Public Safety, Rep. on Assemb. Bill No. 2390 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 13, 1998 ["This proposal would allow persons convicted of this section to be identified along with vehicle thieves for the purposes of establishing priors, for statistical purposes and/or to target those persons involved in vehicle theft"].)

The only difference between section 496 and section 496d is the type of property stolen. This circumstance distinguishes this case from *People v. Bush* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 992, which held that theft from an elder under section 368, subdivision (d), was not covered by Proposition 47. (*Id.* at p. 1101.) Among other reasons, the Court of Appeal noted that section 368

"punishes offenders who prey on vulnerable elders and dependent adults," and is therefore considered a more serious crime than the theft crimes covered by Proposition 47. (*Id.* at p. 1004–1005.) Here, section 496d does not cover a more serious type of crime—it covers an identical crime, differentiated only by the type of property possessed. As this Court has recognized, the electorate in Proposition 47 deliberately sought to eliminate distinctions between theft of low-value property based solely on the type of property stolen. (*People v. Romanowski* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 903, 910 (*Romanowski*).)

D. This Court has held that Proposition 47 offenses applying to "any property" include automobiles, a type of property.

The Court of Appeal noted that section 496d is "not among the statutes listed in section 1170.18[,]" Proposition 47's resentencing provision. (People v. Orozco (2018) 24 Cal. App.5th 667, 674.) This Court has repeatedly held, however, that whether a code section is enumerated in section 1170.18 is not dispositive. (People v. Martinez (2018) 4 Cal.5th 647, 652; Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184.) As explained in Page, section 1170.18 lists code sections under which defendants may be resentenced—a defendant's original sentence need not have been under one of the enumerated code sections. (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184.) This is apparent because some of the listed code sections were not in existence prior to Proposition 47—no defendant could have a prior felony conviction for these offenses to later be reduced to a misdemeanor. (Id. at 1185.)

Similarly in *Romanowski*, *supra*, this Court held that theft of access card information under section 484e was covered by Proposition 47, even though that statute was not specifically enumerated. (*Romanowski*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 910.) Although Proposition 47 did not specifically refer to

section 484e, Proposition 47's theft statute, section 490.2, "broadly reduced punishment for 'obtaining any property by theft' where the value of the stolen information is less than \$950." (*Id.* at p. 906.) The conduct criminalized by section 484e amounts to "obtaining property by theft," and such conduct is a misdemeanor under section 490.2 when the property is worth less than \$950. (*Id.* at pp. 911–913 [rejecting Attorney General's argument that section 484e is not primarily a theft crime].)

Under Proposition 47, the question is not whether a defendant's statute of conviction is listed in section 1170.18, but whether a defendant could have been guilty of a misdemeanor under one of the listed code sections if they had been in effect at the time of the defendant's crime. (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184.) Page is again instructive on this point. Page examined Vehicle Code section 10851, which may apply to car theft. (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) Vehicle Code section 10851 is not listed in Proposition 47. But another statute, section 490.2, is listed. That section makes it a misdemeanor to "obtain[] any property by theft' where the property is worth no more than \$950." Because "[a]n automobile is personal property," section 490.2 covers the theft form of Vehicle Code section 10851 by its plain terms. (*Ibid.*) The same is true here: section 496, subdivision (a), applies to "any property that has been stolen" and mandates that "if the value of the property does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950), the offense shall be a misdemeanor[.]" (Italics added.) "An automobile is personal property." (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) By its terms, section 496, subdivision (a), applies to possession of a stolen automobile.

Furthermore, there is clear evidence the voters intended this result: in the voter guide for Proposition 47, the Legislative Analyst explained that theft of certain property could be charged as a felony even if the property was worth less than \$950. The example given was "cars." (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1187; People v. Romanowski, supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 910.) In enacting Proposition 47, the voters intended that theft of low-value property would be treated as a misdemeanor, regardless of "the type of property involved." (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1187, Romanowski, supra, 2 Cal.5th at 910.) Although the voter guide refers to "theft," it would be illogical for the voters to make theft of low-value cars a misdemeanor, but leave the later possession of those same stolen cars as a felony.

The Court of Appeal in *People v. Williams* (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 641, followed the reasoning above:

"Section 496d is not expressly listed in section 1170.18. However, section 1170.18 does permit resentencing to a misdemeanor under section 490.2 for obtaining property by theft if the property is worth \$950 or less. Thus, our Supreme Court has held that theft crimes involving property of a value of \$950 or less come within the ambit of Proposition 47 even if they are not expressly listed in section 1170.18. (People v. Page (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175 []; People v. Romanowski [supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 910].)"

(Williams, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 647.)

"Proposition 47 reduced the section 496 offense of receiving stolen property to a misdemeanor in cases in which the property involved is valued under \$950. However, Section 496d which applies to a person who buys or receives a stolen vehicle is not explicitly listed. There does not seem to be any logical basis to distinguish between the receipt of stolen

property and receipt of a stolen vehicle under Proposition 47. In *Page*, the Supreme Court noted that an automobile is personal property. (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) Relying on the reasoning in *Romanowski*, we see no reason to assume that a reasonable voter would conclude that receipt of a stolen vehicle worth less than \$950 is a serious and violent crime outside the reach of Proposition 47 when receipt of any other form of stolen property is not. (*Romanowski*, supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 909.)"

(Williams, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 649.)

And, if the voters had wished to exclude a type of property from section 496's description of "any property," they would have done so. In 2016 the electorate passed Proposition 63, which qualified section 490.2's reference to "any property" by adding subdivision (c): "This section shall not apply to theft of a firearm." (§ 490.2, subd. (c); Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) test of Prop. 63, p. 177.) The voters are capable of excluding automobiles from section 496, if they wished to do so. (See also *People v. Gollardo* (2017) 17 Cal.App.5th 547, 558 [electorate in Proposition 47 provided more restrictive language in forgery crime (§ 473)].)

In sum, this Court has already held that when Proposition 47 speaks of "any property," it includes cars. A defendant who stole or possessed a stolen car worth less than \$950 prior to Proposition 47 would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under an offense enumerated in section 1170.18—section 496, subdivision (a)—and can therefore be resentenced under that code section. And this result is not an accident: the voters who enacted Proposition 47 intended to treat theft of *all* low-value property as a misdemeanor, including—explicitly—"cars."

E. This result is consistent with the voters' intent in enacting Proposition 47.

The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. (*Horwich v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276.) In construing a voter initiative, the Court's "principal objective" is to give the initiative's provisions their intended effect. (*People v. Gonzales, supra*, 6 Cal.5th at pp. 49–50.) Here, the voters' intent was to save money by reclassifying low-level felonies as misdemeanors. The ballot material for Proposition 47 explained in part:

Here's how Proposition 47 works:

- Prioritizes Serious and Violent Crimes: Stops wasting prison space on petty crimes and focuses law enforcement resources on violent and serious crimes by changing low-level nonviolent crimes such as simple drug possession and petty theft from felonies to misdemeanors.
- Saves Hundreds of Millions of Dollars: Stops wasting money on warehousing people in prison for nonviolent petty crimes, saving hundreds of millions of taxpayer funds every day.

(http://vig.cdn.sos.ca.gov/2014/general/pdf/complete-vig.pdf.)

As noted above, voters intended to eliminate crimes which made theft a felony based solely on the type of property involved, including when that property was "cars." (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1187.) Furthermore, Proposition 47 expressly requires a "broad" and "liberal" construction to effectuate its purposes. (*Ibid*.) To the extent there is any ambiguity in Proposition 47's application to section 496d, that ambiguity must be

resolved to effect the voters' intent not to spend taxpayer money on incarcerating low level offenders.

Nor is there any countervailing legislative intent that outweighs Proposition 47's goal of "reduc[ing] the number of nonviolent offenders in state prisons, thereby saving money and focusing prison on offenders considered more serious under the terms of the initiative." (*Harris v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 984, 992.) As noted above, section 496d was added in 1998 not to "change criminal penalties or expand the definition of a crime," but to better track the offense. (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Assembly Bill No. 2390 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 23, 1998.) Such tracking has been possible for approximately 20 years, and will remain possible for all but the lowest-value stolen vehicles—those which the voters have deemed a non-serious, non-violent crimes to be treated as misdemeanors.

To the extent the interaction between Proposition 47 and section 496d presents a conflict between "two separate statutory schemes—one enacted by the Legislature, and one by the public[,]" it is presumed that the "electorate weighed the costs and benefits of Proposition 47." (Romanowski, supra, 2 Cal.5th at pp. 907, 914.) Both the plain language of section 496, which applies to "any property" worth less than \$950, and Proposition 47's mandate that it be construed broadly, indicate that the voters intended possession of low-value stolen cars to be a misdemeanor, even if the 1998 Legislature's goal of tracking such crimes is marginally diminished as a result.

F. The case should be remanded with instructions for the trial court to grant the motion as to count 2.

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