SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of the State of California ED

JAN 2 9 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

Case No. S249495

ERNEST L. OROZCO,

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District Division One, Case No. D067313 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCN335521 Honorable Michael Popkins, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUPERIOR COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR RESENTENCING AS TO HIS PENAL CODE SECTION 496D CONVICTION FOR RECEIVING A STOLEN VEHICLE BECAUSE PROPOSITION 47 DOES NOT APPLY TO THAT OFFENSE

Appellant contends that a section 496d felony conviction for receiving a stolen vehicle that is valued at \$950 or less may be recalled and resentenced as a misdemeanor under Proposition 47. (AOB 5.) He reasons that Proposition 47 reduced receiving any stolen property worth \$950 or less to a misdemeanor, and a vehicle is considered property, so Proposition 47 should be read to cover the more specific offense of receiving a stolen vehicle even though it was not enumerated. (AOB 7-14.) Appellant cannot have his section 496d felony conviction recalled and resentenced to a misdemeanor because section 496d is not subject to Proposition 47 relief.

A. General Principles of Statutory Construction

The "interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same rules that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature." (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796, citing *People v. Superior Court* (*Pearson*) (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 571.) "We first consider the initiative's language, giving the words their ordinary meaning and construing this language in the context of the statute and initiative as a whole. If the language is not

ambiguous, we presume the voters intended the meaning apparent from that language, and we may not add to the statute or rewrite it to conform to some assumed intent not apparent from that language." (*Pearson*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 571.)

If the language is ambiguous, courts refer to other indicia of the voters' intent such as the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet. (Robert L. v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901.) "In other words, our 'task is simply to interpret and apply the initiative's language so as to effectuate the electorate's intent.' [Citation.]" (Ibid.) In so doing, the courts "deem voters to have been aware of existing laws and judicial constructions in effect at the time Proposition 47 was enacted." (People v. Bunyard (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 1237, 1243, citing People v. Weidert (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 844.) "If—but only if—two reasonable interpretations of the statute stand in relative equipoise, we resolve an ambiguity in favor of lenity, giving the defendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt." (People v. Bunyard, supra, 9 Cal.App.5th at p. 1243, quoting People v. Soria (2010) 48 Cal.4th 58, 65, internal quotations omitted.)

B. Proposition 47's Amendment of the General Receiving Stolen Property Statute, Penal Code Section 496, Did Not Affect Receiving a Stolen Vehicle Under Penal Code Section 496d Because They Are Independent Statutes That Define Different Offenses

Proposition 47 provides that a petitioner may request resentencing in accordance with the misdemeanors listed in section 1170.18, "Sections 11350, 11357, or 11377 of the Health and Safety Code, or Section 459.5, 473, 476a, 490.2, 496, or 666 of the Penal Code, as those sections have been amended or added by this act." (§ 1170.18, subd. (a), italics added.)

Appellant was prosecuted under section 496d for receiving a stolen vehicle. (CT 1, 8.) Section 496d makes it unlawful for any person to buy

or receive a motor vehicle, special construction equipment, trailer, or vessel, that has been stolen, or conceal, sell, withhold, or aid in concealing, selling, or withholding any motor vehicle, trailer, special construction equipment, or vessel from the owner, knowing the property to be so stolen. (§ 496d, subd. (a).) Proposition 47 did not directly amend or add section 496d. Nor did it do so by any indirect or implied means.

Proposition 47 amended the crime of receiving stolen property to treat receipt of stolen property valued at \$950 or less as a misdemeanor. That amendment did not affect receiving a stolen vehicle because the two are independent statutes that define different offenses. First, the Legislature enacted section 496d, proscribing receiving stolen vehicles, as a specific statute distinct from the already existing section 496, addressing stolen property generally, to target criminal conduct perpetuating the business of stolen vehicles.³ Second, the separate structures of the two statutes—each self-contained with separate elements and punishments—further show they were meant to be independent offenses. Accordingly, Proposition 47's amendment of section 496 did not affect section 496d.

³ Section 496 addresses stolen property generally, "Every person who buys or receives any property that has been stolen or that has been obtained in any manner constituting theft or extortion, knowing the property to be so stolen or obtained, or who conceals, sells, withholds, or aids in concealing, selling, or withholding any property from the owner, knowing the property to be so stolen or obtained shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than one year, or imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170. However, if the value of the property does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950), the offense shall be a misdemeanor, punishable only by imprisonment in a county jail not exceeding one year, if such person has no prior convictions for an offense specified in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667 or for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 290." (§ 496, subd. (a).)

1. The Legislature enacted Penal Code section 496d as a separate and distinct crime to Penal Code section 496 with the purpose of combating the business of stolen vehicles

In 1998 the Legislature added section 496d to the Penal Code to provide "additional tools to law enforcement for utilization in combating vehicle theft and prosecuting vehicle thieves. Incarcerating vehicle thieves provides safer streets and saves Californians millions of dollars. These proposals target persons involved in the business of vehicle theft and would identify persons having prior felony convictions for the receiving of stolen vehicles for enhanced sentences." (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2390 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 23, 1998.)⁴

Section 496d added a much needed "section to the Penal Code to encompass only motor vehicles related to the receiving of stolen property. Existing law provides penalties for the receiving of stolen property, but is not specific to vehicle theft. This proposal would allow persons convicted of this section to be identified along with vehicle thieves for the purposes of establishing priors, for statistical purposes and/or to target those persons involved in vehicle theft." (Sen. Com. on Public Safety, analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2390 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) June 16, 1998.)⁵

Section 496d was not enacted for the singular purpose of tracking statistics on receiving stolen vehicles. (AOB 10.) Creating a separate offense for receiving stolen vehicles permitted such criminal conduct to be

⁴ http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/97-98/bill/asm/ab_2351-2400/ab_2390_cfa_19980819_232541_sen_floor.html

⁵ http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/97-98/bill/asm/ab_2351-2400/ab_2390_cfa_19980616_165814_sen_comm.html

joined with other crimes involving the business of stolen cars and more effectively prosecute repeat offenders. For instance, when section 496d was enacted, it was simultaneously added to section 666.5. "Section 666.5 is an alternate punishment scheme that prescribes an elevated sentencing triad for recidivist car thieves who have a prior felony conviction for car theft or related conduct." (*People v. Lee* (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 861, 869.) Section 666.5 provides increased penalties for those with prior felony convictions involving vehicles. Therefore, repeat offenders for vehicle related crimes including receiving a stolen vehicle could be punished more severely. The Legislature was concerned about combating conduct that perpetuated the vehicle theft business from all angles, and did not merely enact section 496d to maintain statistics on stolen cars.

Notably, the Legislature's enactment of the specific crime of receiving a stolen vehicle under section 496d created an exception to the general crime of receiving stolen property under section 496. As this Court has explained, "[u]nder the Williamson rule, if a general statute includes the same conduct as a special statute, the court infers that the Legislature intended that conduct to be prosecuted exclusively under the special statute. In effect, the special statute is interpreted as creating an exception to the general statute for conduct that otherwise could be prosecuted under either statute." (People v. Murphy (2011) 52 Cal.4th 81, 86, citing In re Williamson (1954) 43 Cal.2d 651, 654.) "In adopting a specific statute, the Legislature has focused its attention on a particular type of conduct and has identified that conduct as deserving a particular punishment. Consequently, we infer that the Legislature intended that such conduct should be punished under the special statute and not under a more general statute which, although broad enough to include such conduct, was adopted without particular consideration of such conduct." (Murphy, supra. at p. 91; see also State Dept. of Public Health v. Superior Court (2015) 60 Cal.4th 940.

960-961 ["[T]he rule that specific provisions take precedence over more general ones trumps the rule that later-enacted statutes have precedence"].)

Accordingly, a person who receives a stolen vehicle must be prosecuted under the specially created provision of section 496d, not under the general provision of section 496 pertaining to the receipt of "any property." Contrary to appellant's argument, sections 496 and 496d are not identical crimes, and the act of receiving a stolen vehicle is governed by section 496d, not the more general statute section 496. (AOB 10-12.)

2. Penal Code sections 496 and 496d are independent offenses as each is self-contained and sets forth all the elements of a crime and a specific punishment

When the Legislature chose to distinguish receiving a stolen vehicle from the general crime of receiving stolen property, it did so by adding an entirely new section to the Penal Code. This further shows the Legislature's intent to define section 496d as a separate and independent offense from section 496.

As this Court explained in *People v. Gonzalez* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 533, whether two Penal Code provisions describe different offenses is a matter of legislative intent. In addition to the clear legislative intent outlined above, the text and structure of the statutes themselves reveal that they describe different offenses. Under *Gonzalez*, courts look at whether each provision is self-contained and sets forth all the elements of the crime and punishment. (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 539.) Sections 496 and 496d meet that text. Each sets forth all of the elements and the punishment for the corresponding crimes. Notably, section 496 is punishable as a wobbler with a maximum exposure of 16 months, or two or three years (§ 496; see also § 18), whereas section 496d prescribes a similar punishment with the additional possibility of a fine of up to \$10,000 (§ 496d).

The fact section 496d was drafted to be self-contained supports the view that it describes an independent offense from section 496. (See *Gonzalez*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 539.)

3. Proposition 47's amendments to Penal Code section 496, pertaining to receiving stolen property generally, do not supersede section Penal Code 496d, which specifically punishes receiving a stolen vehicle

Proposition 47 amended section 496 by changing the punishment for receiving stolen property valued at \$950 or less from a wobbler to a misdemeanor. The drafters considered the crime of receiving stolen property generally, and presumably the other three statutes criminalizing receiving specific types of property, yet made no changes to those sections, which includes section 496d at issue here. (See *People v. Licas* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 362, 367 ["Where a statute, with reference to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant to show that a different intention existed"].) This suggests the drafters did not want Proposition 47 to apply to section 496d, or at the very least that the electorate did not agree to that change.

This is further supported by Proposition 47's amendment of section 496, subdivision (b). Section 496, subdivision (b) defines a type of receiving stolen property specific to swap meet vendors. (See § 496, subd.

⁶ There are two additional provisions for receiving certain stolen property: property used in transportation or public utility service (§ 496a) and second hand books (§ 496b). All four of the provisions (§§ 496, 496a, 496b, and 496d) identify a means of receiving or buying stolen property and are self-contained in that they include the elements of the crime and punishment. The receiving stolen property provisions are completely independent of each other.

(b).) Just as it did for section 496, subdivision (a), which defines the general offense of receiving stolen property, Proposition 47 specifically amended subdivision (b) to prescribe misdemeanor treatment for receiving stolen property by swap-meet vendors valued at \$950 or less. This shows the Proposition 47 drafters knew how to include specific forms of receiving stolen property when they wished to do so. As just discussed, no similar amendment was made to section 496d.

While Proposition 47 changed some of the punishment provisions for violations of section 496, the language describing the conduct criminalized by that section remained unchanged after the proposition's passage. (See Stats. 2011, ch. 15, § 372; § 496.) Because the amendment did not change the scope of the conduct covered by section 496, the passage of Proposition 47 did not cause the general language of section 496 to supersede the provisions of section 496d specifically proscribing receiving stolen vehicles. (*Brailsford v. Blue* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 335, 339 ["Parts of an amended statute not affected by the amendment will be given the same construction that they received before the amendment"].) And, as discussed above, the *Williamson* rule belies appellant's contention that his conduct in this case could also have resulted in a misdemeanor violation of section 496 instead of the conviction he received under section 496d.

In sum, the Legislature's adoption of 496d shows that it was particularly concerned with punishing receiving stolen vehicles over other forms of property. Since its enactment 20 years ago, section 496d has remained unchanged. The corpus has always been a vehicle, it has been prosecuted as a wobbler, and in addition to custody it includes a possible fine of up to \$10,000. At the same time, section 496 has always been predicated on the value of the property, which has increased over time, and it too was prosecuted as a wobbler until amended by Proposition 47. The drafters and the electorate are presumed to be aware of the distinctions

between these two offenses, and the fact that Proposition 47 did not alter section 496d suggests they wished it to remain unchanged.

C. Receiving A Stolen Vehicle Is Not a Theft Crime That Is Subject to Proposition 47's General Reform of Grand Theft Offenses

Receiving a stolen vehicle is not a theft crime as appellant suggests.

(AOB 12.) Proposition 47 created a new definition of petty theft, section 490.2, that greatly changed the scope of the conduct the electorate deemed to be misdemeanor petty theft. The language used in section 490.2 makes it clear the drafters intended that section to apply broadly and supersede other theft offenses. But section 490.2 has no application to section 496d, which is not a theft offense. Moreover, there is no analogous statute like section 490.2 that applies generally to receiving stolen property.

1. Penal Code section 490.2 does not apply to penal code section 496d because that section only applies to theft

Penal Code section 490.2 provides: "Notwithstanding Section 487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft, obtaining any property by theft where the value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950) shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor. . . ." (§ 490.2, subd. (a).)

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